FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1044038

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/23/2025 4:04 PM

Supreme Court No. ___ (COA No. 86244-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

RICARDO MEJIA,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sara S. Taboada Attorney for Petitioner

Washington Appellate Project 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

GR 37 prevents courts from allowing the State to exercise a peremptory strike if an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike. GR 37 also lists several presumptively invalid reasons for a strike.

In *State v. Bell*, ¹ this Court recently reiterated several principles behind GR 37:

- "The rule was designed to be overinclusive in order to be effective[;]"²
- The 'could view' standard under GR 37 "is a sensitive standard," so courts "must be especially prudent" in evaluating GR 37 claims;³ and
- "[A] party's intent when exercising a peremptory challenge is not part of a court's analysis," and instead

¹ No. 103077-1 (Wash. July 10, 2025).

² *Id.* at 13.

³ *Id.* at 14.

the court "must consider the optics of the challenge from an objective observer's position."⁴

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case, which the Court issued a few weeks before this Court's opinion in *Bell*, contradicts these rules and principles. The opinion reads the "could view" standard in an underinclusive rather than in an overinclusive manner. The opinion hyper-focuses on the prosecutor's stated intent rather than the optics of the prosecutor's exercise of the peremptory strike. The opinion deemphasizes the words he used to describe the challenged juror, and it undervalued the racially charged motives he assigned for her assurances to be fair and impartial.

This Court should accept review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Ricardo Mejia asks this Court to accept review of a Court of Appeals opinion that affirmed his convictions. The Court of

⁴ *Id*. at 17.

Appeals issued the opinion on June 23, 2025. Mr. Mejia has attached a copy of the opinion to this petition.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. GR 37 forbids a court from striking a juror if an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike.

Under GR 37, some reasons for a strike are presumptively invalid. Some of these presumptively invalid reasons include having prior contact with law enforcement and having a close relationship with individuals who have been convicted of a crime.

The court allowed the State to exercise a peremptory strike against a Black woman. The State claimed it was exercising the strike because (1) the prosecutor in Mr. Mejia's trial was co-counsel to the prosecutor who formerly prosecuted Juror 51's ex-boyfriend; (2) the State had to force Juror 51 to testify in her ex-boyfriend's trial; and (3) Juror 51, in one instance, gave false testimony during her ex-boyfriend's trial.

Juror 51's questionnaire admitted that she was a witness in a previous trial, but she stated she neither had strong feelings towards law enforcement nor had concerns about her ability to be fair and impartial. During questioning, she shared that she did not recognize the prosecutor at Mr. Mejia's trial, and she assured the court that despite being forced to testify at her exboyfriend's trial, she could be fair and impartial. The trial court allowed the strike.

An objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike for several reasons, including (1) the State relied on presumptively invalid reasons for the strike; (2) the State told the court that Juror 51 gave favorable answers only as a ruse to get on the jury and exact revenge on the State for its prior prosecution of the juror's ex-boyfriend; and (3) the State used racially charged language when it asked the court to strike the juror, as he described her as "hostile."

The Court of Appeals' opinion contradicts GR 37 precedent, warranting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4).

2. A prosecutor commits misconduct when he argues that a person's exercise of his right to remain silent is substantive evidence of the person's guilt. During closing arguments, the prosecutor pointed out that after Mr. Mejia's arrest, he did not inform the police about the theory of defense he advanced at trial.

The Court of Appeals implicitly agreed this was misconduct, but it nevertheless affirmed Mr. Mejia's convictions by employing the wrong standard of review. The opinion's employment of this standard of review contradicts precedent, warranting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Ricardo Mejia with several theft offenses after his attempts to help others obtain legal status

were unsuccessful. Op. Br. at 4-12. During his trial, the State exercised a peremptory strike against a Black juror over Mr. Mejia's GR 37 objection. RP 453-56.

Mr. Mejia's theory of defense was that someone at a law firm in Los Angeles tricked him into unwittingly defrauding the victims. RP 1178-1205, 1223. During closing argument, the prosecutor argued, "[a]fter [Mr. Mejia] was arrested, he didn't say anything about being duped. At no point has he ever claimed that he thought he was acting lawfully." RP 1231. The prosecutor went on to argue that after the victims went to the police, "[Mr. Mejia] had the opportunity to make the claims counsel [advanced], [but] he declined to do it." RP 1231-32.

The jury convicted Mr. Mejia, and the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions. Op. at. 1.

E. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' opinion undermines GR 37's robust protections and is contrary to precedent.

Both the federal constitution and the Washington constitution secure a person's right to a fair and impartial jury.

U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Tesfasilasye,

200 Wn.2d 345, 356, 518 P.3d 193 (2022). Relatedly, both the federal and the state constitution forbid the State from striking a juror because of her race. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22; Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85-87, 106 S. Ct.

1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986); State v. Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d 34, 43, 309 P.3d 326 (2013), overruled on other grounds by City of Seattle v. Erickson, 188 Wn.2d 721, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017).

"Parties may use peremptory challenges to strike a limited number of otherwise qualified jurors from the venire without providing a reason." *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 356. However, a history exists of the State using peremptory strikes

"based largely or entirely on racial stereotypes or generalizations." *Id.* at 356. While the United States Supreme Court sought to curtail race-based strikes with the framework it announced in *Batson*,⁵ this Court recognized this framework was inadequate. *Id.*

Accordingly, this Court enacted GR 37 to address *Batson's* shortcomings. *Id.* at 357. Unlike *Batson*, GR 37 does not require the defendant to demonstrate the prosecutor had a discriminatory purpose when he exercised a peremptory strike. Instead, GR 37 requires a court to deny a peremptory strike "if an objective observer **could** view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." GR 37(e) (emphasis added). The use of the term "could" in GR 37 demonstrates our Supreme Court intended courts to forbid peremptory strikes if a mere possibility existed the strike was racially motivated. *State v. Lahman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 938, 488 P.3d 881 (2021).

⁵ Batson, 476 U.S. at 96-99 (discussing framework).

This Court employed the "could" language in GR 37 because such language made it "more likely to prevent peremptory dismissals of jurors based on the unconscious or implicit biases of lawyers." *Tesfasislasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 357.

In turn, an "objective observer" under GR 37 is "aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in the unfair exclusion of potential jurors in Washington State." GR 37(f).

Because some reasons for peremptory challenges "have been associated with improper discrimination in jury selection[,]" GR 37 lists several presumptively invalid reasons for a peremptory challenge. GR 37(h). Some of these reasons include "having prior contact with law enforcement" and "having a close relationship with people who have been [] convicted of a crime." GR 37(h)(i)-(iii).

When a trial court considers a GR 37 challenge, it must consider numerous circumstances. *See* GR 37(g). One of the circumstances GR 37 directs the court to consider is the number

of questions posed to the prospective juror, and whether the party who exercised the peremptory challenge failed to question the juror about his concerns. GR 37 (g).

This Court reviews a court's GR 37 determination de novo. *Bell*, No. 103077-1, slip op. at 3.

Over Mr. Mejia's GR 37 objection, the court allowed the State to strike Juror 51, a Black woman, from the panel. The State's justifications for the strike contravened GR 37 in several ways. First, the State relied on two presumptively invalid reasons for the strike. Second, the State asked the court to rely on these presumptively invalid reasons in order to make unsupported assumptions regarding Juror 51's ability to be fair and impartial. These assumptions relied on the harmful stereotype that Black women exploit the legal system for their personal gain.

Third, the State relied on presumptively invalid reasons to justify its decision to not ask Juror 51 any questions during

group voir dire. And fourth, the State used racially charged language when it described Juror 51's behavior.

Before trial, Juror 51 filled out a juror questionnaire. The questionnaire revealed the following: (1) she was Black; (2) she had testified as a witness at a prior trial; (3) she did not recognize any of the State's witnesses; (4) she did not have strong feelings towards law enforcement; and (5) she had no concerns about her ability to be fair and impartial. PT Ex. 1.

The prosecutor asked the court to excuse Juror 51 from service before the parties even questioned her. RP 113. The prosecutor explained that while Juror 51 did not recognize his name, Juror 51 was a witness in a homicide trial from the previous summer. RP 113. The prosecutor at Mr. Mejia's trial was not the lead prosecutor at the trial where Juror 51 served as a witness. CP 43.

The prosecutor explained Juror 51 did not respond to a subpoena to testify, so "she was arrested on a material witness warrant and spent a night in jail prior to her testimony[.]" RP

113. The prosecutor then claimed that while Juror 51 did not recognize his name, she would recognize him when she saw him, and she "could not give [the State] a fair trial under the circumstances." RP 113. Under this assumption, the State asked the court to excuse Juror 51. RP 113.

The court declined to excuse Juror 51. RP 114. Instead, the court directed the parties to question her. RP 114.

The court pulled Juror 51 aside for individual questioning. RP 244. The prosecutor asked Juror 51 if she testified at a specific homicide trial during the summer; Juror 51 said yes. RP 245. Juror 51 agreed the police arrested her to secure her testimony at the trial. RP 245. She also agreed this was a negative experience. RP 245. However, she did not recognize the prosecutor at Mr. Mejia's trial, and she said she could set aside her experience for this case. RP 245-46. Juror 51 explained she did not think her experience would influence her in any way. RP 246.

Despite these assurances, the prosecutor again asked the court to strike Juror 51 for cause. RP 246. Mr. Mejia objected. RP 246. The court opined that while it understood the State's concerns, it did not "have any indication that [Juror 51's prior arrest] itself [was] enough to warrant a for-cause challenge." RP 246-47. The court invited the prosecutor to build a record to establish bias. RP 247.

Shortly afterward, the prosecutor tried again and made additional arguments. The prosecutor claimed Juror 51 would not be "forthright" with the prosecutor during Mr. Mejia's trial because she was not "forthright" with the prosecutor during the murder trial. RP 262. The prosecutor explained that when Juror 51 was on the witness stand but outside of the jury's presence, she agreed she was one of the speakers in a jail phone call. RP 262. However, in the jury's presence, Juror 51 denied recognizing her voice. RP 262. Accordingly, the State impeached her with the prior statement she made outside the presence of the jury. RP 242.

The court reiterated the State had not presented sufficient facts or testimony that gave rise to a for-cause challenge. RP 264. The court reminded the prosecutor he could develop a for-cause challenge through questioning. RP 265-64.

The prosecutor agreed Juror 51's responses were "perhaps not adequate for a for-cause challenge," but asserted he would not ask Juror 51 any more questions because he did not "believe she [was] going to answer them truthfully." RP 264. The prosecutor explained he assumed that if he questioned Juror 51, it would go "south for [him] just like her trial testimony went south[.]" RP 264. True to his word, the prosecutor did not ask Juror 51 any additional questions during voir dire.

Undeterred, the prosecutor filed a motion the following day asking the court to strike Juror 51 due to implied bias. CP 38. The motion provided further details regarding the homicide trial. For example, the motion noted the person on trial was

Juror 51's ex-boyfriend. CP 39. The State tried Juror 51's boyfriend due to a homicide in early 2017. CP 43.

In an attached declaration, the prosecutor claimed that while on the phone with Juror 51 and the lead prosecutor in May of 2022, Juror 51 used "very hostile language" that showed she did not want to cooperate with the prosecution. *Id.* The declaration did not detail the "very hostile language" Juror 51 allegedly used. *Id.* Then, the prosecutor claimed that during Juror 51's testimony in 2023 for the 2017 murder, she "demonstrated hostility toward the prosecution" because "she could not recall events." CP 38. The prosecutor in Mr. Mejia's case was not the prosecutor who questioned Juror 51 in the murder case. RP 445.

With no evidence, the prosecutor's motion to strike Juror 51 claimed she lied to the court at voir dire in Mr. Mejia's case. CP 39. The prosecutor claimed Juror 51's comments "should be discounted as an attempt to be seated on this jury." CP 39. The prosecutor theorized, "there would be no quicker way for [Juror

51] to get back at the State than to participate as a biased juror in this trial, and thereby undermine this prosecution." CP 41.

Mr. Mejia once again objected to the prosecutor's motion to strike. RP 439. Mr. Mejia argued the prosecutor was essentially arguing that because the prosecutor believed Juror 51 was dishonest during her ex-boyfriend's trial, the court could no longer trust anything she said. RP 440. Under the prosecutor's logic, anyone who was previously convicted of giving a false statement could never serve on a jury. RP 440. Mr. Mejia argued the prosecutor's basis for striking Juror 51 rested on a logical fallacy. RP 440-41.

Mr. Mejia also reminded the court that Juror 51 unequivocally said she could be fair and impartial. RP 441. He also pointed out that the prosecutor strategically chose not to further question Juror 51. RP 442-43.

The court concluded that while there was "an adversarial relationship between the prosecutor's office and this prospective juror," the court did not believe the prosecutor

provided sufficient evidence to warrant a for-cause challenge.

RP 446-47.

The prosecutor refused to relent and exercised a peremptory challenge against Juror 51. RP 453. Mr. Mejia raised a GR 37 challenge. RP 453. The prosecutor argued an objective observer could not view race as a factor in the strike because he made "abundantly clear this is a challenge against this specific individual for their adversarial relationship" with the "prosecutor's office[.]" RP 453.

In response, Mr. Mejia again pointed out that the prosecutor asked Juror 51 zero questions after her individual questioning. RP 454. Furthermore, Mr. Mejia argued the prosecutor was relying on an invalid basis for the strike, as GR 37 lists having prior contact with law enforcement as a presumptively invalid basis for a strike. RP 454. In essence, the prosecutor wanted to strike Juror 51 because she had one unpleasant and forced interaction with the criminal legal system. RP 454-55.

The court granted the peremptory strike. The court concluded an objective observer could not view race as a factor in the strike because this was a "unique circumstance" where the prosecutor had to get an arrest warrant in order to get Juror 51 to testify and Juror 51 provided "conflicting testimony" at her ex-boyfriend's murder trial. RP 455.

The court also acknowledged that while a person's prior contact with law enforcement officers is a presumptively invalid reason for a strike, it did not see "[GR 37] as applying where you have an individual that had [a] personal interaction with the prosecutor litigating the case here." RP 456. The court acknowledged that while GR 37 provides that a presumptively invalid reason for a strike is a person's personal relationship with someone with a conviction, the strike was "because of [Juror 51's] personal interaction with [the] prosecutor." RP 458.

Upon hearing the court's ruling, Mr. Mejia pointed out the prosecutor concocted this "relationship" with Juror 51, as she said she had no idea who he was. RP 458-59. In the same

vein, the prosecutor merely relied on assumptions in order to justify the strike. RP 458-59. The court acknowledged these arguments but allowed the strike. RP 459-60.

The court's ruling contravened GR 37 for several material reasons. First, the prosecutor relied on presumptively invalid reasons for the strike. GR 37 lists having prior contact with law enforcement and having a close relationship with people convicted of a crime as presumptively invalid bases for a peremptory strike. GR 37 (h)(i), (iii). But here, the prosecutor claimed that because (a) the State had to jail Juror 51 to get her to cooperate in the prosecution of her ex-boyfriend; and (b) the State had to impeach her with a prior inconsistent statement at her ex-boyfriend's trial, she could not be fair to the State.

The Court of Appeals found that the prosecutor's stated reasons did not "implicate GR 37(h)(i) and (ii)" because they were based on his personal interaction with Juror 51. Op. at 10-11. This is plainly wrong. Nowhere in GR 37 does it state that an exception to GR 37's presumptively invalid reasons exists

where the prosecutor has had a personal interaction with a juror.

The Court of Appeals' opinion reads language into the rule that simply does not exist.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' opinion over-relies on the prosecutor's stated intent when exercising the strike and his express reason for declining to question Juror 51 any further. Op. at 10, 13. However, the prosecutor's actual intent in "exercising a peremptory challenge is not part of a court's analysis. This is because the court must consider the optics of the challenge from an objective observer's position." Bell, No. 103077-1, slip op. at 16-17. The same is true of a prosecutor's decision to not further question a juror—the court must focus on the optics of this decision rather than the prosecutor's stated reason for not questioning the question. The Court of Appeals' opinion critically ignores the optics of the prosecutor's behavior and words.

An objective observer could also view race as a factor in the strike because Juror 51 assured the court that despite being

jailed and forced to testify at her ex-boyfriend's trial, she could follow the court's instructions and be fair and impartial. The trial court found these assurances credible, as the court did not allow the prosecutor to exercise a for-cause challenge against Juror 51.

The Court of Appeals concluded this was irrelevant and "conflate[d] for-cause and peremptory challenges." Op. at 11.

This Court's caselaw belies this conclusion. In *State v*. *Tesfasilasye*, this Court noted that an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike of a juror of color because "the record show[ed] that [the juror] repeatedly indicated she could be fair and impartial." 200 Wn.2d at 359. This Court contrasted this with other juror's answers, which demonstrated that many of the jurors were actually equivocal about their ability to be fair and impartial. *Id.* at 360. The fact that these jurors were not struck fortified this Court's conclusion that an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike.

An objective observer could also view race as a factor in the strike because the prosecutor asked the court to make several baseless, racially charged assumptions about Juror 51:

(1) she was a perpetual liar who could never be trusted; and (2) she was purposefully trying to get on the jury in order to exact revenge on the prosecutor and sabotage the State. This invoked a harmful stereotype about Black women. A longstanding racist stereotype exists that Black women are "untrustworthy," "deceptive," and game the legal system in order to extract some sort of personal benefit. *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 437, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022).

To this argument, the Court of Appeals seemingly concluded the prosecutor's prior interaction with Juror 51 supported his belief that Juror 51 lied about her ability to be fair and impartial. Op. at 15-16. This conclusion was patently wrong. Outside the context of the State forcing her to testify at her ex-boyfriend's trial, nothing in the record suggests Juror 51 was inherently untrustworthy and deceptive. Certainly, nothing

in the record supports the conclusion that Juror 51 specifically plotted to get on the jury in order to exact her revenge on the State.

This unsupported assumption—which rested on a known racist stereotype about Black women —could certainly lead an objective observer to conclude race was a factor in the strike.

The Court of Appeals was wrong to conclude otherwise.

Relatedly, the prosecutor's claim that during a phone call with Juror 51, she used "very hostile language" could also lead an objective observer to view race as a factor in the strike. The declaration does not describe the allegedly "very hostile language" Juror 51 uttered to the prosecutor. The declaration also notes Juror 51 demonstrated "hostility" and "extreme hostility" to the State. CP 38-39.

The term "hostile" is a synonym of the term "combative." *Combative*, Merriam-Webster Thesaurus. 6 This

⁶ https://www.merriam-webster.com/thesaurus/combative (last visited Aug. 20, 2024)

Court has recognized that describing a Black woman as hostile—or, in other words, combative— "evokes the harmful stereotype of an 'angry Black woman." *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 436. Describing a Black woman as hostile "is concerning and harmful," as society "has stereotyped Black women as 'violent, hostile, and aggressive." *State v. Hawkins*, 200 Wn.2d 477, 500 n.17, 519 P.3d 182 (2022) (quoting J. Celeste Walley Jean, *Debunking the Myth of the 'Angry Black Woman: 'An Exploration of Anger in Young African American Women*, 3 Black Women, Gender, & Fams. 68 (2009)).

The Court of Appeals concluded this language could not lead an objective observer to view race as a factor in the strike because the prosecutor's "word choice was consistent with established legal terminology and supported by specific facts[.]" Op. at 15-16. Several problems exist with this conclusion.

First, just because a phrase is a legal term of art does not mean the use of the phrase cannot cause an objective observer

to view race as a factor in a strike. Legal terms of art can be offensive and serve as dog-whistles to refer to a person's race. For example, the term "illegal alien" is a legal term of art, but it has fallen out in many circles in recent years because it dehumanizes people who are undocumented. See Ben Fox. US under Biden will no longer call migrants "illegal aliens," AP (Apr. 19, 2021); see also Jonathan Kwan, Words Matter: Illegal Immigrant, Undocumented Immigrant, or Unauthorized *Immigrant?*, Santa Clara University (Feb. 11, 2021).⁸ And this Court and our legislature have recognized that legal terms of art can be offensive. See Pitzer v. Union Bank of California, 141 Wn.2d 539, 9 P.3d 805 (2000) (recognizing that the term "illegitimate children" is a legal term of art that is offensive);

⁷ https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-coronavirus-pandemic-immigration-7c8c0bad5dedb750c2aa7c1e9d8aa3cb.

⁸ https://www.scu.edu/ethics/focus-areas/more-focus-areas/immigration-ethics/immigration-ethics-resources/immigration-ethics-blog/words-matter-illegal-immigrant-undocumented-immigrant-or-unauthorized-immigrant/.

Michael LeCompte, *Bill for removal of 'master' and 'servant'* from employment terms working its way through WA state house, NBC (Jan. 25, 2023)⁹ (describing bill that eliminates the legal terms of art "master" and "servant" from certain statutes because they are offensive).

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals appeared to have overlooked the fact that the prosecutor's declaration claimed Juror 51 used "very hostile language," but the declaration fails to document what Juror 51 actually said. Accordingly, the record fails to show whether Juror 51's interaction with the prosecutor was truly "hostile." And even if it was "hostile," this Court has already stated prosecutors should neutrally describe a person's behavior instead of simply characterizing it as "hostile." *Hawking*, 200 Wn.2d at 500 n.17.

⁹ https://www.nbcrightnow.com/news/bill-for-removal-of-master-and-servant-from-employment-terms-working-its-way-through-wa/article_0e7cb55c-9cfa-11ed-9bce-1b34a5933f8e.html.

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