FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/14/2025 10:10 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 104403-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

RICARDO MEJIA,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ARGUMENT

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of

the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). Mejia cites all four prongs of RAP 13.4(b) but primarily argues that the Court of Appeals' opinion was inconsistent with other cases addressing GR 37.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF GR 37.

Mejia asks this Court to review the peremptory challenge of Juror 51, which he claims was improperly based on racial stereotypes and Juror 51's relationship with a prior criminal defendant. Pet. for Rev. at 4. Review is not warranted because Mejia's underlying premise is mistaken. The trial court allowed the State to excuse Juror 51 based on the undisputed fact that she was a witness in a recent unrelated trial involving the same prosecutor where she had refused her subpoena, been arrested on the State's motion for a material witness warrant, and then testified falsely at trial. *Mejia*, No. 86244-8 at 10; RP 455, 458.

This was appropriate under both this Court's precedent and the plain language of GR 37.

GR 37 was designed to prevent the improper use of peremptory challenges based on racial stereotypes. *State v. Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d 345, 356, 518 P.3d 193 (2022). A "stereotype" is "a trait imposed on a group of people based on a shared characteristic such as race or ethnicity." *State v. Lahman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 936-37, 488 P.3d 881 (2021). But as the Court of Appeals observed, the challenge of Juror 51 was based on the prosecutor's personal experience with Juror 51, "not...on racial stereotypes or generalizations." *Mejia*, No. 86244-8 at 10. The prosecution of Juror 51's ex-boyfriend, in which she was a witness, was simply the circumstance within which her misconduct occurred.

This Court has never held, nor does the plain language or drafting history of the rule suggest, that GR 37 was intended to govern antagonistic personal relationships. *See State v. Orozco*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 367, 376, 496 P.3d 1215 (2021) ("Personally

prosecuting a prospective juror...supports a prosecutor's decision to remove that person from the jury"). Likewise, this Court has never held that GR 37 was intended to prevent peremptory challenges based on a juror's *actual misconduct*.

Mejia repeatedly refers to the prosecutor's concern that Juror 51 might sabotage the trial if empaneled, which he claims invoked the racist stereotype of Black women as "deceptive" and "untrustworthy." Pet. for Rev. at 22, 28. Whether that was actually Juror 51's plan is unknown and unknowable. What matters here is that the prosecutor's belief was based on Juror 51's attempt to sabotage his *last* trial, not on the sort of racial stereotypes with which GR 37 is primarily concerned. Because this justification was predicated on Juror 51's individual conduct, an objective observer could not have determined that race played a factor in the prosecutor's challenge.

Mejia also claims the decision below conflicts with this Court's statement in *State v. Bell*, __ Wn.3d __, 571 P.3d 272, 278 (2025), that "a party's intent when exercising a peremptory

challenge is not part of a court's analysis...because the court must consider the optics of the challenge from an objective observer's position." *Mejia* does not violate the principles discussed in *Bell*.

As an initial matter, the facts in *Bell* are highly distinguishable. The peremptory challenge in *Bell* was based on a juror's admission that they were not paying attention during voir dire. 571 P.3d at 275. This was problematic because: (1) "[s]everal jurors...struggled to answer some questions" but were not challenged; (2) the record lacked "concrete evidence regarding [the juror's] attentiveness"; and (3) "inattentiveness" has historically been used as a basis for discriminatory challenges. *Id.* at 273-78. Unlike in *Bell*, the rationale for excusing Juror 51 was unique in the venire, amply supported by the record, and not historically associated with bias.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals did not simply rely on the prosecutor's subjective intent but instead properly applied the "objective observer" standard and considered the relevant factors from GR 37(h). *Mejia*, No. 86244-8 at 10. The optics of excusing a juror who disobeys court orders, lies under oath, and whom the trial prosecutor had jailed, would not be concerning even to someone "aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases…have resulted in the unfair exclusion of potential jurors." GR 37(f).

While the facts in *Mejia* are unusual, the trial court's application of GR 37 was consistent with this Court's precedent and the plain language of the rule. Review is not warranted.

2. THE BARE FACT THAT THE PROSECUTOR REFERRED TO JUROR 51 AS "HOSTILE" DOES NOT CREATE A CONFLICT WITH HENDERSON V. THOMPSON, INFRA.

Mejia accused the prosecutor of using "racially charged language" implicating the "angry Black woman" stereotype because he referred to Juror 51 as "hostile." Br. of Appellant at 3, 16-17, 32. The prosecutor initially referred to Juror 51 as "a hostile witness in our trial" while explaining his experience with her to the court. RP 261. Juror 51 had also been unhappy

at even being asked to testify, with the prosecutor recalling their conversation as "very hostile" in his declaration. CP 43. Mejia claims that the Court of Appeals' refusal to find error on this basis conflicts with *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 424-25, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022). Pet. for Rev. at 24.

Henderson is readily distinguishable because that case involved an argument before a jury, whereas this case involved a conversation with a judge without any jurors present. The problem described in Henderson—that the defendant's lawyer "primed the jurors with appeals to racial bias"—is not at issue here. Id. at 436. Furthermore, describing the plaintiff in Henderson as "combative" was just one part of a broader pattern of misconduct, including the use of "us-versus-them descriptions," that "invited the jury to make decisions on improper bases like prejudice or biases about race, aggression, and victimhood." Id. Nothing of the sort occurred in this case.

Henderson did not redefine common descriptors like "angry" or "hostile" as racist in every case involving women of

color. Br. of Appellant at 32. While Mejia suggests prosecutors should recount conversations verbatim rather than describe them in such general terms, that might be either impractical or inconsistent with courtroom decorum. Pet. for Rev. at 26. The record also shows that Juror 51 was a classic "hostile witness" as the technical legal term is used—she was called by the State but was adverse to its interests. *Black's Law Dictionary*, 1633 (8th Ed. 2004). Nothing about the term's etymology or practical use is founded on racist generalizations, and Mejia's contrary argument relies on a reductive reading of *Henderson*. Review is not warranted.

3. MEJIA'S PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CLAIM RELIES ON A MISINTERPRETATION OF THE RECORD.

Mejia argued that the prosecutor committed misconduct in summation by commenting on his right to remain silent in the face of police questioning. *Mejia*, No. 86244-8 at 20. The Court of Appeals passed on whether error occurred and simply found the issue unpreserved because Mejia failed to object.

Mejia asks this Court to accept review and apply RAP 2.5(a)(3) instead of the normal prosecutorial error standard. Pet. for Rev. at 31-32.

Review is not warranted in this case. First, the Court of Appeals did not, as Mejia suggests, make an implied finding of error. It simply elected to address waiver first because that issue was dispositive. In any event, Mejia's underlying complaint relies on a misinterpretation of the facts. As explained below, the prosecutor was discussing Mejia's refusal to speak with civilian victims, where the right to silence does not apply.

a. The Court of Appeals Did Not Find Misconduct.

Mejia claims the Court of Appeals "implicitly agreed" that the prosecutor committed misconduct below. Pet. for Rev. at 5. This is incorrect. Rather, the court stated that Mejia's claim failed "even if he could show the prosecutor's statements were improper." *Mejia*, No. 86244-1. The court in effect skipped any discussion of the merits because another aspect of

the analysis was dispositive. This is not uncommon and does not imply an unspoken ruling on issues that were not addressed. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Crow*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 480, 507, 438 P.3d 541 (2019) (in ineffective assistance of counsel context: "[i]f one prong of the test fails, we need not address the remaining prong").

b. Mejia's Argument Relies on a Misinterpretation of the Prosecutor's Argument.

Although a prosecutor generally cannot comment on a defendant's decision to remain silent, this rule does not apply to interactions between the accused and non-State actors. *State v. Valpredo*, 75 Wn.2d 368, 370, 450 P.2d 979 (1969); *State v. Heritage*, 152 Wn.2d 210, 216, 95 P.3d 345 (2004). Considered in context, the prosecutor was referencing Mejia's failure to speak candidly with the civilian victims.

Although the statement about Mejia declining to explain himself "[a]fter he was arrested" sounds problematic in isolation, the State's theory was that the California arrest never happened, nor was there any evidence Mejia was arrested in Washington. The State argued that the "arrest" was part of the fraud, designed to explain Mejia's failure to provide the immigration documents the victims had paid for. RP 1231-32. The prosecutor's point was that if Mejia had actually been an unwitting accomplice as he claimed, he would have eventually explained himself to the victims. This argument was methodically supported by the trial testimony, with the prosecutor asking almost every civilian victim whether Mejia had ever spoken to them about being misled or offered to go to the police. RP 792, 887-90, 981, 1093.

The prosecutor's argument was not improper. This Court should deny review.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Mejia's petition for review.

I certify this document contains 1,774 words, excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.

DATED this 14th day of August, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her)
King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS WSBA #46394 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

August 14, 2025 - 10:10 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 104,403-8

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Ricardo Mejia

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1044038_Answer_Reply_20250814100906SC231930_0969.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 104403-8 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• sara@washapp.org

· wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Gavriel Gershon Jacobs - Email: gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20250814100906SC231930